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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 “Here, one of the largest newspapers in the world since Abraham Lincoln was 

engaged in the private practice of law, is claiming protections from an upstart 

competitor armed with a cell phone and a web site.... [Absolute privilege] grant[s] 

protection to a Goliath against a David” - Project Veritas v. New York Times - Index 

No. 63921/2020 - New York State, Westchester County, Supreme Court. 

The District Court’s March 23, 2021 Ruling granting multi-billion dollar 

Defendants, JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al (“Goliath/the Goliath/the Defendants”) 

absolute privilege protection and dismissing my Defamation/False and Fraudulent 

Acts and Conduct lawsuit against them is profoundly erroneous.  The District Court 

erred in its said Ruling because its Opinion & Order is rife with false claims, 

ambiguities, innuendos and omissions. 

 What the District Court failed to understand is that this lawsuit is predicated by 

the crime of perjury and the false and fraudulent acts and conduct of JPMorgan Chase 

& Co., et al - “Perjury can provide a predicate for other tort claims if the elements of 

those torts can otherwise be proven.... This was an action to recover damages 

because of the false and fraudulent acts and conduct of Morgan” - Morgan v. 

Graham, 228 F.2d 625 (10th Cir. 1956).  In addition, the challenged statements in 

my Defamation claim are not subject to absolute privilege protection because on its 

face, the statements are not defamatory to my character and as such do not merit the 
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absolute privilege protection defense
1
.  In conjunction, pursuant to the immunity 

exceptions for absolute privilege protection, the Defendants do not have one scintilla 

of evidence upon which to base pertinency because the challenged statements that 

were made in Declarations under penalty of perjury by the Defendants are 100% 

false - “Upon our review of the papers and documentary evidence submitted by the 

parties, we discern "not one scintilla of evidence present upon which to base the 

possible pertinency of [the] defendant's statement[s]". Therefore, the challenged 

statements are not subject to an absolute privilege” - Gugliotta v. Wilson, 168 A.D.3d 

817, 819 (2d Dept. 2019).   

 Additionally, even if the statements were to be in any way “pertinent”, they are 

misrepresented material facts that were fraudulently presented to the Court by the 

Defendants.  JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al knowingly, purposefully and intentionally 

misrepresented important material facts in their Declarations and pursuant to the 

immunity exception for absolute privilege protection which states: “to qualify for the 

privilege, a statement must be ‘material and pertinent to the questions involved’” - 

Brown v. Maxwell, 929 F.3d 41, 53 (2d Cir. 2019), there is a clear difference between 

“material” and “misrepresented material”.  

 In light of the foregoing, the Goliath does not meet the basic criteria for the 

immunity exceptions required for them to be granted absolute privilege protection 

from me, a poor, Black, female, pro se Plaintiff. 

                                                 
1
 See more in my subsequent arguments. 
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 As it relates to my Third Cause of Action – “False and Fraudulent Acts and 

Conduct”, the District Court ERRED in its ruling that: “Plaintiff is alleging a 

reputational injury caused by purportedly false and defamatory statements made in 

the Lue I litigation.  Accordingly, the Court construes this cause of action to sound in 

defamation”. 

 The District Court’s Ruling is erroneous because “action and conduct” do not 

constitute libel and/or slander and as such cannot “sound in defamation”.  Also, just 

as on pages 40 - 41 below, JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al’s fraudulent acts and 

conduct were clearly spelt out in detail on pages 10 – 11 in “Plaintiff’s Memorandum 

of Law In Opposition To Defendants' Motion to Dismiss” (District Court Docket 

“DCD” # 30/Appendix page “App.” 136A – 137A) and pages 5 – 6 in “Plaintiff’s 

Brief for February 18, 2020 “Pre-Motion Conference Concerning Defendants’ 

Anticipated Motion to Dismiss” (DCD # 22/App. 45A – 46A).  In addition, the 

authority I used as my standard of review for my Third Cause of Action is Morgan v. 

Graham, 228 F.2d 625 (10th Cir. 1956) – (“This was an action to recover damages 

because of the false and fraudulent acts and conduct of Morgan”) which has nothing 

to do with defamation but 100% has to do with the false and fraudulent acts and 

conduct JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al committed to compromise the authorities of the 

District and Appeals Courts and to influence the outcome of my Employment Racial 

Discrimination and Retaliation lawsuit (“Lue I”) against them.   



 4 

 In light of the aforesaid, I respectfully ask that this Court vacate the District 

Court’s Judgment and remand the case for Discovery proceedings. 
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INTRODUCTION 

 As JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al noted in their Motion to Dismiss and the 

District Court reiterated in its Opinion and Order, I filed the above-captioned lawsuit 

8 days after the Supreme Court denied my Certiorari on October 15, 2019 in my 

Employment Racial Discrimination and Retaliation lawsuit “Lue I” (Lue v. JPMorgan 

Chase & Co., et al - 1:16-CV-03207).  But why did I file this lawsuit on October 23, 

2019, eight days after the Supreme Court denied my Certiorari?  The answer is, 

because of the Statute of Limitation to file a Defamation lawsuit in the State of New 

York.  

 There is a reason why my first mention of “November 2, 2018” is in bold in 

my Amended Complaint (see Am. Compl ¶ 17).  It is because that was the day 

JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al filed their “Brief for Defendants-Appellees” and 

supporting Declarations pursuant to 28 U. S. C. § 1746 (“Supplemental Appendix”) 

in the Second Circuit Court of Appeals.  My Defamation Claim is SOLELY based on 

the false statements the Defendants made under penalty of perjury in their said 

Declarations pursuant to 28 U. S. C. § 1746 (the predicate for my Defamation 

claim) and with a one year Statute of Limitation to file a Defamation lawsuit in the 

state of New York, I had to file my defamation lawsuit by November 1, 2019.   
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 Being cognizant of both the legal and personal challenges to have concurrent 

lawsuits
2
 and the New York State one year Statute of Limitation, I filed the above-

captioned civil action on October 23, 2019, TEN (10) days before the said Statute of 

Limitation ended thus, the “8 days after the Supreme Court denied my Certiorari”.  

Also, I do not understand why the Supreme Court denying my Certiorari is such a big 

deal with the Defendants and the District Court when, even for me as a legal amateur, 

it is basic knowledge that the Supreme Court takes less than 1% of cases it is asked to 

hear. 

 During my afore-stated Employment Racial Discrimination and Retaliation 

lawsuit proceeding, it was clear as day that: 1) Defendants JPMorgan Chase & Co., et 

al had committed the crime of perjury as well as false and fraudulent acts and conduct 

to compromise the authority of the Court and 2) by way of the District Court ignoring 

my adamant reports of these crimes that the District Court had become corrupted.   

 With all the LIES stated in the Defendants’ Declarations pursuant to 28 U. S. 

C. § 1746
3
 supporting their Motion for Summary Judgment in “Lue I”, when my 

reports of the Defendants’ CRIMES of perjury and obstruction of justice were 

consistently ignored by both the District and Appeals Courts, I researched and found 

legal facts that “perjury can provide a predicate for other tort claims if the elements 

of those torts can otherwise be proven” - Morgan v. Graham, 228 F.2d 625, 627, 628 

                                                 
2
 I would have filed this lawsuit by November 1, 2019 however, regardless of a ruling by the Supreme Court. 
3
 A CRIME pursuant to 18 U.S. Code §§ 1621 & 1623 which up to today ALL the Courts have refused to address. 
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(10th Cir. 1956).  Because I have proofs which I provided (DCD # 24/App. 50A – 

122A)/would be able to provide, I filed the predicated torts of “Defamation” and 

“False and Fraudulent Acts and Conduct” against JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al in the 

United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, County of New 

York on October 23, 2019 and a subsequent Amended Complaint on October 30, 

2019.  By then, it was two days before the Statute of Limitation to file a defamation 

lawsuit in the state of New York ran out.  
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Statement of Subject Matter and Appellate Jurisdiction 

The District Court possessed subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1331.  This Court has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291.  The 

District Court entered its final Order granting the Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss on 

March 23, 2021 (App. 10A – 29A & 30A).  I, pro se Plaintiff, Candice Lue filed a 

timely Notice of Appeal on April 6, 2021 (App. 31A – 32A). 
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

1. Whether absolute privilege protection should have been granted to Goliath 

JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al when immunity exceptions to this privilege require 

that the challenged statements be “pertinent and material” and Goliath JPMorgan 

Chase & Co., et al cannot provide one scintilla of evidence to show pertinence and 

there is a clear difference between “material” and “misrepresented material”. 

2. Whether the District Court erred in its Ruling due to the false claims, 

ambiguities, innuendoes and omissions in its Opinion and Order. 

3. Whether the District Court should have denied Plaintiff “Leave to Amend” 

when there are clearly ambiguities associated with the Ruling in the case. 

4. Whether the District Court erred in its Ruling when it construed my Third 

Cause of Action - “False and Fraudulent Acts and Conduct to “sound in 

defamation” when “acts and conduct” do not constitute libel and/or slander and 

the authority used in support of this Cause of Action, Morgan v. Graham, 228 

F.2d 625 (10th Cir. 1956) – “This was an action to recover damages because of 

the false and fraudulent acts and conduct of Morgan” has nothing to do with 

defamation but 100% has to do with Defendant(s) who committed false and 

fraudulent acts and conduct to compromise the authority of the Court and to 

influence the outcome of a lawsuit (my Employment Racial Discrimination and 

Retaliation lawsuit - Lue v. JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al - 1:16-CV-03207). 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

  On October 23, 2019, I, pro se Plaintiff, Candice Lue filed the above-captioned 

civil action in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, 

County of New York with a subsequent Amended Complaint filed on October 30, 

2019 against JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al.   

  On November 13, 2019, the District Court set a date for February 18, 2020 for 

an “initial pre-trial conference” at 10:00 AM in Courtroom 618, 40 Centre Street, 

New York, NY 10007 before Judge Katherine Polk Failla which was signed off by 

the said judge.  

  On November 14, 2019, the Defendants’ attorney, Anshel Kaplan filed a letter 

addressed to Judge Katherine Polk Failla informing the District Court of “defective 

service” of Summons.  Citing absolute privilege protection, he also requested a pre-

motion conference concerning the Defendants’ anticipated Motion to dismiss my 

Defamation/False and Fraudulent Acts and Conduct lawsuit against them.   

 In response to the Defendants attorney’s pre-motion conference request letter, 

on November 22, 2019
4
, I, pro se Plaintiff, Candice Lue filed with the District Court: 

“Response to Defendants’ Attorney Anshel Kaplan’s Letter Motion [for conference 

(pre-motion) in anticipation of Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss]” (DCD # 10/App. 

                                                 
4
 In bold because this filing was omitted from the District Court’s Opinion and Order and because of the false claim/ 

innuendo in the said Opinion and Order which states: “In a last-ditch effort to avoid dismissal, Plaintiff argues that the 

privilege does not apply here” (see page 11). My argument was consistent from November 22, 2019 ONE WEEK after 

the Defendants SHAMELESSLY filed their absolute privilege protection defense. 
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33A – 40A) where I refuted the Defendants’ false statements of “defective service” of 

Summons and challenged their absolute privilege protection defense including the 

fact that absolute privilege protection should not be extended to JPMorgan Chase & 

Co., et al because the District and Appeals Courts in “Lue I” neglected their duty to 

uphold the rule of law by consistently ignoring my reports and evidence of the 

CRIMES of perjury and obstruction of justice and the false and fraudulent acts and 

conduct committed by the said Defendants.  After my said Response was entered on 

the docket, later on the same day in a letter to the District Court, the Defendants’ 

attorney recanted his “defective service” argument. 

 On the same day, November 22, 2019, the District Court granted the 

Defendants’ application for a pre-motion conference stating that: “The initial pretrial 

conference, currently scheduled for February 18, 2020, at 10:00 a.m. in Courtroom 

618 of the Thurgood Marshall Courthouse, 40 Foley Square, New York, New York[.] 

shall serve as a pre-motion conference concerning Defendants' anticipated motion to 

dismiss.” 

 In advance of the pre-motion conference set for February 18, 2020 and in 

support of the argument in my “Response to Defendants’ Attorney Anshel Kaplan’s 

Letter Motion [for conference (pre-motion) in anticipation of Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss]” (DCD # 10/App. 33A – 40A) challenging Goliath’s absolute privilege 

protection defense, I, pro se Plaintiff, Candice Lue filed a Brief - “Plaintiff’s Brief 

For February 18, 2020 “Pre-Motion Conference Concerning Defendants' 
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Anticipated Motion To Dismiss” which was entered on the District Court’s docket on 

February 7, 2020 as entry # 22 (App. 41A – 49A). 

 In support of my previously filed Amended Complaint, on February 18, 2020, 

the day of the pre-motion conference, I filed evidence in the form of Exhibits - 

“Plaintiff's Exhibits” which was entered on the District Court’s docket as entry # 24 

(App. 50A – 122A).   

 With that said, in response to the District Court’s statement on page 5 of the 

Opinion and Order which states: “On February 18, 2020, the day of the pre-motion 

conference and nearly four months after filing the Amended Complaint, Plaintiff filed 

a document that she styled as exhibits to the Amended Complaint. (the “Complaint 

Exhibits” (Dkt. #24))”, let me explain why I filed the exhibits “nearly four months 

after filing the Amended Complaint”. 

 Being a legal amateur and finding out after filing my prior lawsuit “Lue I” that 

sending the evidence with the Complaint was premature, I should have waited for 

Discovery??, I was a bit hesitant/confused as to when I should submit the Exhibits for 

my Defamation/False and Fraudulent Acts and Conduct lawsuit.  However, after 

careful consideration, I decided that because the February 18, 2020 conference was a 

pre-motion conference concerning the Defendants’ anticipated motion to dismiss, 

it would be in my best interest to produce some evidence to support my Amended 

Complaint and my “Plaintiff’s Brief For February 18, 2020 “Pre-Motion Conference 

Concerning Defendants' Anticipated Motion To Dismiss”.   
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 I made this decision about one week prior to the pre-motion conference and 

with not enough time to send my evidence through the mail, on February 18, 2020, 

the day of the pre-motion conference, I took my evidence in the form of Exhibits with 

me and filed them in person in the Pro Se Intake Unit (DCD # 24/App. 50A – 122A).  

Again, I do not understand why filing the Exhibits on February 18, 2020 would be a 

big deal with the District Court that they had to elaborate in the Opinion and Order 

that it was filed “nearly four months after filing the Amended Complaint” considering 

the lawsuit was still in its very preliminary stage. 

   On March 20, 2020, the Defendants filed their “Motion to Dismiss” and 

“Exhibits” for which the latter have nothing to do with and/or nothing to disprove my 

Defamation/False and Fraudulent Acts and Conduct Claims against them.  In their 

said Motion, the Goliath shamelessly pleaded for absolute privilege protection. 

 On April 23, 2020, I, pro se Plaintiff, Candice Lue filed my Opposition to the 

Defendants’ motion to dismiss as well as additional evidence in the form of Exhibits 

which directly relates to and supports the argument in my “Plaintiff’s Memorandum 

of Law In Opposition To Defendants' Motion to Dismiss” (DCD #s 30 & 31/App. 

123A – 146A  & App. 147A – 168A).    

 On December 2, 2020, Goliath’s attorney sent a letter addressed to Judge 

Katherine Polk Failla (DCD # 33) with an Exhibit (DCD # 34) dubbed “Supplemental 

Authority” in support of their shameless plea for absolute privilege protection - 

[Absolute privilege] grant[s] protection to a Goliath against a David” - Project 
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Veritas v. New York Times.  I, pro se Plaintiff, Candice Lue filed a Response to that 

plea on December 9, 2020 (DCD # 35/App. 169A – 171A) and, in response to the 

Defendants’ “Exhibit” (DCD # 34) which was a recent Ruling in a Defamation 

lawsuit, I detailed all the reasons why the said supplemental authority is without 

merit. 

 On March 23, 2021, the District Court issued an Opinion and Order which is 

rife with false claims, ambiguities, innuendos and omissions erroneously granting the 

Defendants’ “Motion to Dismiss”.  

 On April 6, 2021, I, pro se Plaintiff, Candice Lue filed a timely Notice of 

Appeal. 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 

The District Court erred in granting Goliath absolute privilege protection from 

me, a poor, Black, female, pro se Plaintiff because Goliath cannot provide one 

scintilla of evidence upon which to base pertinency for the LIES they knowingly, 

purposefully and intentionally stated under penalty of perjury, a CRIME pursuant 

to 18 U.S. Code § 1621, to defame my character and because they misrepresented 

material facts, a CRIME pursuant to 18 U.S. Code § 1623, and there is a CLEAR 

difference between “material” and “misrepresented material”.  With that said, the 

Goliath does not meet the immunity exceptions for absolute privilege and as such the 

challenged statements are not subject to that protection. 

 The District Court also erred in construing that my Third Cause of Action -

False and Fraudulent Acts and Conduct “sounds in defamation” as actions and 

conduct do not constitute libel and/or slander and as such cannot be in any way 

construed as defamation.  In conjunction, in my “Plaintiff’s Memorandum of Law In 

Opposition To Defendants' Motion to Dismiss” (DCD # 30/App. 123A – 146A) and 

“Plaintiff’s Brief for February 18, 2020 “Pre-Motion Conference Concerning 

Defendants’ Anticipated Motion to Dismiss” (DCD # 22/ App. 41A – 49A), I clearly 

articulated the Defendants’ fraudulent actions and conduct.  The said actions and 

conduct that compromised the authority of the District and Appeals Courts and 

influenced the outcome of my Employment Racial Discrimination and Retaliation 

lawsuit against them.  Taken from my said filings, anyone of reasonable mind would 
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construe statements such as the following to be actions and conduct not libel and/or 

slander: 

� Fraudulently using Fidelia Shillingford, a Black employee, as a conduit and a 

cover for Employment Racial Discrimination.  

� Fraudulently using Baruch Horowitz, my White predecessor as an employee 

who was solely assigned the racially discriminatory “Tasks” and who had to 

first request permission in order to use JPMorgan Chase’s “work from home” 

employment benefit. 

� Fraudulently using my November 6, 2014 hire letter. 

  

  Additionally, the District Court erred in granting Goliath absolute privilege 

protection from me, poor, Black, female, pro se Plaintiff, Candice Lue because if the 

District and Appeals Courts had not become so corrupted by Goliath that they 

neglected their duty, the said Defendants’ crimes of perjury, misrepresentation of 

material facts and obstruction of justice and their false and fraudulent acts and 

conduct would have been addressed in “Lue I” and there would not have been a need 

for this lawsuit.  Furthermore, the Defendants were well aware of the District and 

Appeals Courts’ profoundly erroneous statements in their “Lue I” Rulings in their 

Memorandum Opinion and Order and Summary Order and Judgment, respectively; 

but said nothing because their criminal and fraudulent acts and conduct were 

intentional and pre-meditated.  Consequently, absolute privilege protection should not 
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have been granted to Goliath as granting them this privilege constitutes a mockery 

and reflects overt bias of the U.S. judicial system.  

 My Defamation Claim against Goliath which comprises of Actual Malice, 

Libel, Defamation Per Se and Defamation by Implication is based SOLELY on the 

false statements the said Defendants made under penalty of perjury in their 

Declarations pursuant to 28 U. S. C. § 1746 “Perjury can provide a predicate for 

other tort claims if the elements of those torts can otherwise be proven” - Morgan v. 

Graham, 228 F.2d 625 (10th Cir. 1956) which makes my Tort of Defamation 

legitimate as I have the proofs.  However, what causes the said Defendants’ absolute 

privilege protection defense to be without merit is that they cannot provide one 

scintilla of evidence to back up, for instance, the LIES Black Defendant, Fidelia 

Shillingford, stated under penalty of perjury in their quest to make me, Plaintiff, 

Candice Lue out to be a lying, vindictive, troublesome, uncongenial, elitist person 

and a less desirable/undesirable employee.  Case in point, if Goliath cannot provide 

one scintilla of evidence to show that between September 2014 and November 4, 

2014
5
 Black Defendant, Fidelia Shillingford, initiated and executed the hiring process 

for the Reporting Analyst position and/or was the “hiring manager” for the said 

position prior to me, the Black candidate, being selected for the job and/or that it was 

solely Black Defendant, Fidelia Shillingford’s decision to fire me on January 6, 

                                                 
5
 My official hire date for the Reporting Analyst position was November 6, 2014.  
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2016
6
, then any such LYING challenged statement from Black Defendant, Fidelia 

Shillingford, cannot be pertinent and is immaterial to this lawsuit and as such, is not 

subject to absolute privilege protection.  

 Another of several cases in point are the LIES Defendant Baruch Horowitz 

stated in his Declaration.  Again, if the Goliath, multi-billion dollar Defendants, 

JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al cannot provide one scintilla of evidence to back up 

Defendant, Baruch Horowitz’s LIES which made me, Plaintiff, Candice Lue out to be 

a lying, elitist, vindictive, uncongenial, a less desirable/undesirable and troublesome 

Black employee who refused to do the discriminatory Tasks that “were done by him, 

my predecessor”
7
 “a Caucasian male and a Senior Associate (a higher rank than 

Lue’s role of Analyst)” then any such LYING challenged statement from Defendant, 

Baruch Horowitz, cannot be pertinent and is immaterial to this lawsuit and as such, 

is not subject to absolute privilege protection. 

 Goliath does not have one scintilla of evidence upon which to base pertinency 

and there is a clear difference between “material” and “misrepresented material” thus 

the request they made to Judge Katherine Polk Failla (which was granted) to shield 

themselves from/evade Discovery was: “While that motion is pending, your Honor, 

we would respectfully request a stay of discovery until the decision’s rendered on that 

                                                 
6
 “Fraudulently using Fidelia Shillingford, a Black employee, as a conduit and a cover for Employment Racial 

Discrimination.” 
7
 First off, I had three (3) non-Black predecessors none of whom was assigned the discriminatory tasks.  However, 

JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al are pretending two of them do not exist (Baruch Horowitz, Thomas Monaco and Kenneth 

Ng - another example of JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al’s False and Fraudulent Act and Conduct - “spoliation of 

evidence”). 
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motion.” – Page 9, line 2 of Oral Argument Transcript - February 18, 2020 (App. 

172A).  In contrast, I, pro se Plaintiff, Candice Lue, am able to provide material, 

pertinent and incontrovertible evidence to prove my Defamation Claims.  

 In light of the foregoing, this case should be remanded for Discovery 

proceedings as it is clear that my lawsuit consists of legitimate causes of action. 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

   

  JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al’s shameless use of absolute privilege protection 

as their “one-trick pony” legal defense is without merit. 

 As it relates to absolute privilege protection, none of the challenged statements 

I quoted in my “First Cause of Action” in my Amended Complaint as false statements 

the said Defendants made under penalty of perjury in their Declarations pursuant to 

28 U. S. C. § 1746 (“Supplemental Appendix”) that they filed in support of their 

“Brief for Defendants-Appellees” in the Second Circuit Court of Appeals on 

November 2, 2018, on its face/as stated, is defamatory to my character
8
.  It is only 

when these said statements are opined and/or interpreted by anyone/society that they 

become extremely defamatory to my character as they portray me to be a vindictive, 

lying, uncongenial and elitist person and a less desirable/undesirable employee.   

 Absolute privilege protects actual statements made which are defamatory on its 

face/as stated during the course of a judicial proceeding.  There is no law to show 

that absolute privilege protects statements made during a judicial proceeding that are 

not defamatory on its face/as stated but are only defamatory outside of the judicial 

proceeding when opined and/or interpreted by anyone/society.   

 Secondly, the District Court’s Opinion and Order failed to address the very 

touchy subject that there was GROSS negligence/neglect of duty by both the District 

                                                 
8
 “If a person is offering testimony as a witness in Court, and gives damaging testimony about someone else -- such as 

that the person lied or cheated -- those statements will be protected from civil liability for defamation.” Credit to 

AllLaw.com 
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and Appeals Courts in my Employment Racial Discrimination and Retaliation lawsuit 

“Lue I” - (Lue v. JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al - 1:16-CV-03207). 

 The District and Appeals Courts in “Lue I” consistently ignored my reports and 

evidence of the Defendants’ crimes of perjury, obstruction of justice and false and 

fraudulent acts and conduct which influenced the outcome of my said lawsuit.  The 

said Appeals Court also ignored the evidence I provided to show that the District 

Court judge, Judge Alison J. Nathan, struck from the docket (DCD # 31/App. 156A – 

158A) ALL my evidence that proved that the Defendants were committing those said 

crimes. 

 Clear evidence was presented in this Defamation/False and Fraudulent Acts 

and Conduct lawsuit to show that the authorities of the District and Appeals Courts in 

“Lue I” were compromised.  Consequently, and for the integrity of the Courts, 

absolute privilege protection should not be/have been extended to the Defendants 

who have and/or trying to presumptuously and obviously abuse this privilege. 

 Thirdly, the challenged statements are not subject to absolute privilege because 

pursuant to the immunity exceptions for absolute privilege protection, the Defendants 

do not have one scintilla of evidence upon which to base pertinency.  “Upon our 

review of the papers and documentary evidence submitted by the parties, we discern 

"not one scintilla of evidence present upon which to base the possible pertinency of 

[the] defendant's statement[s]". Therefore, the challenged statements are not subject 

to an absolute privilege” - Gugliotta v. Wilson, 168 A.D.3d 817, 819 (2d Dept. 2019). 
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   In addition, even if the statements are seen in any way “pertinent”, they are 

knowingly, purposefully and intentionally MISREPRESENTED material facts
9
 that 

were presented to the Courts by the Defendants and there is a clear difference 

between “material” and “misrepresented material” - “to qualify for the privilege, a 

statement must be ‘material and pertinent to the questions involved’” - Brown v. 

Maxwell, 929 F.3d 41, 53 (2d Cir. 2019).  With that said, even with their Goliath 

status, the Defendants should not have been/be rewarded with the protection of 

absolute privilege, they should be punished pursuant to 18 U.S. Code § 1623. 

 And lastly, the District Court erred in its ruling as it relates to my Third Cause 

of Action – “False and Fraudulent Acts and Conduct”, where it states that: “....the 

Court construes this cause of action to sound in defamation”. 

The District Court’s Ruling is erroneous because “acts and conduct” do not 

constitute libel and/or slander so this Cause of Action cannot “sound in defamation”.  

Also, the authority I used for my Third Cause of Action is Morgan v. Graham, 228 

F.2d 625 (10th Cir. 1956) – “This was an action to recover damages because of the 

false and fraudulent acts and conduct of Morgan”.  Morgan v. Graham was not a 

defamation lawsuit and has nothing to do with defamation but 100% has to do with 

                                                 
9
 “Whoever under oath (or in any declaration, certificate, verification, or statement under penalty of perjury as 

permitted under section 1746 of title 28, United States Code) in any proceeding before or ancillary to any court or 

grand jury of the United States knowingly makes any false material declaration or makes or uses any other 

information, including any book, paper, document, record, recording, or other material, knowing the same to contain 

any false material declaration, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.” - 18 U.S. 

Code § 1623 
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Morgan’s false and fraudulent acts and conduct that compromised the authority of the 

Court and influenced the outcome of the lawsuit - In my case, my Employment 

Racial Discrimination and Retaliation lawsuit (Lue v. JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al - 

1:16-CV-03207).   

In light of the foregoing, the District Court’s Ruling should be reversed and 

this case remanded for proper assessment and Discovery proceedings as it is clear 

that my lawsuit consists of legitimate causes of action. 
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ARGUMENT 

 

1. THE DEFENDANTS DO NOT MEET THE CRITERIA REQUIRED TO BE 

PROTECTED BY “ABSOLUTE PRIVILEGE”. 

 

  On its face/as stated, the challenged statements are not defamatory and as such 

are not eligible for absolute privilege protection.  Secondly, there are immunity 

exceptions to the absolute privilege protection that the Defendants cannot and have 

not satisfied as they cannot provide one piece of factual material to show pertinency 

and there is a clear difference between “material” and “misrepresented material”.  

Thirdly, there is clear evidence of neglect of duty by the District and Appeals Courts 

as well as evidence that the authorities of the said Courts were compromised which 

influenced the outcome of my Employment Racial Discrimination and Retaliation 

lawsuit (Lue v. JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al - 1:16-CV-03207). 

  In light of the aforesaid, absolute privilege protection should not be/have been 

extended to the Defendants. 

 

A. Standards of Review 

1. “Upon our review of the papers and documentary evidence submitted by the 

parties, we discern "not one scintilla of evidence present upon which to base the 

possible pertinency of [the] defendant's statement[s]". Therefore, the challenged 

statements are not subject to an absolute privilege” - Gugliotta v. Wilson, 168 A.D.3d 

817, 819 (2d Dept. 2019) 
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2. “....to qualify for the privilege, a statement must be ‘material and pertinent to 

the questions involved’” - Brown v. Maxwell, 929 F.3d 41, 53 (2d Cir. 2019) 

  

3. “Neglect of duty is the omission to perform a duty.  Neglect of duty has 

reference to the neglect or failure on the part of a public officer to do and perform 

some duty or duties laid on him as such by virtue of his office or which is required of 

him by law.  It is not material whether the neglect is willful, through malice, 

ignorance or oversight, when such neglect is grave and the frequency of it is such as 

to endanger or threaten the public welfare, it is gross.” - State, Ex Rel. Hardie 

v. Coleman, 155 So. 129, 115 Fla. 119 (Fla. 1934).   

 

B. The Tort of Defamation Is Solely Predicated by Perjury As On Its Face, 

As It Relates to the Defendants’ “Absolute Privilege” Protection 

Defense, the Challenged Statements Are Not Defamatory. 

 

 My Defamation Claim is SOLELY based on the false statements the 

Defendants made under penalty of perjury in their Declarations pursuant to 28 U. 

S. C. § 1746 which, on its face as it relates to absolute privilege protection are not 

defamatory but when opined and/or interpreted by anyone/society, who are/were not 

a party to the judicial proceeding, will be extremely defamatory to my character.  

 No where during the course of my Employment Racial Discrimination and 

Retaliation lawsuit “Lue I” judicial proceedings did the Defendants explicitly state 

that I, Plaintiff, Candice Lue is a vindictive, lying, uncongenial and elitist person and 
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a less desirable/undesirable employee and no where in my Amended Complaint did I 

state that the Defendants explicitly described me as any of the such either.  Absolute 

privilege protects actual statements made which are defamatory on its face/as stated 

during the course of a judicial proceeding.  Absolute privilege does not protect 

statements made during a judicial proceeding that are not defamatory on its face/as 

stated but only when opined and/or interpreted by parties outside of the judicial 

proceeding defame one’s character due to anyone’s/society’s opinion and/or 

interpretation of the said statements which is anyone’s/society’s absolute civil right.  

Case in point – Baruch Horowitz’s Declaration – statement #s 2, 6 & 7 (DCD # 

31/App. 154A – 155A) which state: “I am a Caucasian male”…. “Sexton and then 

Khavin directed me to prepare materials for the monthly CRG meeting, including 

printing, organizing, sorting, collating, and stapling.  I did so….”….. “I periodically 

worked from home.  Prior to doing so, however, I contacted my group supervisor at 

the time for permission.”  On its face/as stated, these false statements (6 & 7) made 

under penalty of perjury by Defendant, Baruch Horowitz (talking about himself)
10
 

are not defamatory to my character but when opined and/or interpreted by 

anyone/society, make me, Plaintiff, Candice Lue, out to be an elitist, vindictive and 

troublesome Black employee who refused to do the Tasks that were done by “my 

                                                 
10
 “If a person is offering testimony as a witness in Court, and gives damaging testimony about SOMEONE ELSE -- 

such as that the person lied or cheated -- those statements will be protected from civil liability for defamation.” Credit 

to AllLaw.com 
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predecessor”, “a Caucasian male”, thus defaming my reputation and character and 

making me a less desirable and/or undesirable employee. 

  With that said, Goliath’s absolute privilege protection defense as it relates to 

my Defamation Claim is without merit because absolute privilege is extended solely 

to actual defamatory statements made by parties during a judicial proceeding, not to 

anyone’s/society’s opinion and/or interpretation of the said statements outside of the 

judicial proceeding.  If Goliath had explicitly stated in their Declarations that I, 

Plaintiff, Candice Lue is a vindictive, lying, uncongenial and elitist person and a less 

desirable/undesirable employee then those defamatory statements would be protected 

from civil liability for defamation (see footnote “10”) but for the challenged 

statements, absolute privilege is not warranted and absolute privilege does not protect 

Goliath from anyone’s/society’s opinion and/or interpretation of their perjurious 

statements. 

 

C. Absolute Privilege Should Not Be Extended to the Defendants Due to 

the Courts’ Neglect of Duty. 

  In my Employment Racial Discrimination and Retaliation lawsuit “Lue I”, the 

District and Appeals Courts neglected their duty to uphold the rule of law by 

consistently ignoring my reports and evidence of the CRIMES of perjury and 

obstruction of justice and the false and fraudulent acts and conduct committed by 

JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al.  These reports and evidence were provided via several 

Motions I filed with the District Court and cited 18 USC §§ 4, 1505 and 1621 (16-
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CV-03207), a Writ of Mandamus (17 – 2751) I filed with the Appeals Court and 

documents I resubmitted to the Appeals Court (18–CV-01248) which were most 

relevant to my Appeal pursuant to Rule 10(b)(2) of the Federal Rules of Appellate 

Procedure which had all the evidence to show that JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al 

committed the crimes of perjury and obstruction of justice.   

  Also, without a valid explanation (which I requested multiple times via the said 

Motions I filed with the District Court but was ignored by Judge Alison J. Nathan), 

the District Court struck from the docket (DCD # 31/App. 156A – 158A) ALL my 

eight (8) Affidavits and almost 500 pages of corroborating evidence in the form of 

Exhibits as well as my Subpoena request for documents in response to the 

Defendants’ perjurious Declarations pursuant to 28 U. S. C. § 1746, which provided 

all the proofs that the said Defendants, JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al, were 

committing pre-meditated fraud against me, Plaintiff, Candice Lue and upon the 

Court. 

  In conjunction, in the less than two pages of my four and less than a 

¼ page (double-spaced) statement that I was allowed to read at the April 18, 2019 

Second Circuit Court of Appeals oral argument, I described the Defendants’ Motion 

for Summary Judgment as being “CRIMINAL and PERJURIOUS” five (5) times, 

cited 18 USC §§ 4, 1505 and 1621, stated the Defendants LIED under Penalty of 

Perjury and even so, the Appeals Court ignored my report of JPMorgan Chase & Co., 

et al’s intentional, criminal, false and fraudulent acts and conduct. 
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 Then, as if the afore-stated miscarriage of justice by the Courts was not bad 

enough, the said District and Appeals Courts then went on to repeat and affirm as 

facts
11
, all the LIES JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al made under penalty of perjury - 

Going as far as to state: “The undisputed facts, which are “all” supported by citations 

to evidence in the record, warrant a grant of summary judgment to Defendants on all 

counts, and the dismissal of Plaintiff's claims”. If there truly is “evidence in the 

record” as Judge Alison J. Nathan claimed in her Opinion and Order, why is Goliath 

now DISGRACEFULLY pleading absolute privilege protection when to win a 

defamation lawsuit all a defendant needs to do is to provide such evidence?  “[E]very 

court has supervisory power….” to ensure they “are not used to gratify private spite 

or promote public scandal” or “serve as reservoirs of libelous statements….” – 

Nixon v. Warner Communications, Inc., et al, 435 U.S. 589, 98 S.Ct. 1306 (1978).  

“This supervisory function is not only within a district court's power, but also 

among its responsibilities.” - Brown v. Maxwell, 929 F.3d 41, 53 (2d Cir. 2019). 

  In light of the foregoing, if the District and Appeals Courts in “Lue I” had not 

become so corrupted that they neglected their duty, Goliath’s criminal, overt, 

conspiratorial, false and fraudulent acts and conduct would have been addressed then.  

                                                 
11
 Which includes Judge Alison J. Nathan’s statements in her Memorandum Opinion and Order that: “[Plaintiff‘s] White 

predecessor was exclusively responsible for the same Tasks and had to obtain the same permissions to work from home.  

Shillingford, who is Black, made the decision to both hire and fire Plaintiff….. Overall, the evidence [the Defendants’ 

PERJURIOUS Declarations] is "so overwhelmingly tilted in one direction that any contrary finding would constitute 

clear error…. The undisputed facts, which are “all” supported by citations to evidence in the record, warrant a grant of 

summary judgment to Defendants on all counts, and the dismissal of Plaintiff's claims.”  And the Appeals Court’s 

statement in their Summary Order and Judgment that: “Indeed, the district court also considered that Lueʹs white 

predecessor received the same assignments as Lue and was subject to the same requirements to work from home; the 

same person made both the decision to hire Lue and the decision to fire her.” 
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Consequently, and for the integrity of the Court, absolute privilege protection should 

not be/have been extended to the Defendants. 

 

D. The Challenged Statements Are Not Subject to Absolute Privilege 

Protection Because The Defendants Have No Evidence of Pertinency 

And There Is A Clear Difference Between “Material” and 

“Misrepresented Material”. 

 Statements that are manufactured out of thin air for which not one scintilla of 

evidence can be produced to support them cannot be subject to absolute privilege 

protection and as such cannot be considered “material and pertinent to the questions 

involved” - Brown v. Maxwell, 929 F.3d 41, 53 (2d Cir. 2019).  Furthermore, Goliath 

knowingly, purposefully, intentionally and conspiratorially misrepresented important 

material facts in statements they made in their Declarations pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1746, a CRIME pursuant to 18 U.S. Code § 1623. 

 

E. False And Fraudulent Acts and Conduct Are Not Protected By 

Absolute Privilege. 

 Goliath specifically desired to injure me, Plaintiff, Candice Lue and was well 

aware that injury to me was certain or substantially certain to result from their 

conspiratorial, criminal, false and fraudulent acts and conduct and despite this 

knowledge, still proceeded. “….the complaint alleges facts showing that the 

employer: (1) specifically desired to injure the employee; or (2) knew that injury to 

an employee was certain or substantially certain to result from the employer's act 
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and despite this knowledge, still proceeded. Van Fossen v. Babcock & Wilcox Co., 

supra; Pariseau v. Wedge Products, Inc., supra; and Kunkler v. Goodyear Tire & 

Rubber Co., supra, construed.” (Mitchell v. Lawson Milk Co., 40 Ohio St. 3d 190, 

532 N.E.2d 753 (Ohio 1988)). 

 Goliath’s said conspiratorial, criminal, false and fraudulent acts and conduct 

have/will cause me severe harm and injury as articulated in “Plaintiff's Memorandum 

of Law In Opposition To Defendants' Motion To Dismiss” (item “4” on pages 16 – 20 

- DCD # 30/App. 142A – 146A) and as such, a recovery is warranted - Pratt v. Payne 

(2003), 153 Ohio App. 3d 450 (¶ 29).  

 

2. THE DISTRICT COURT’S OPINION AND ORDER IS RIFE WITH FALSE 

CLAIMS, AMBIGUITIES, INNUENDOES AND OMISSIONS. 

  

 The District Court erred in its Ruling because its profoundly erroneous Opinion 

and Order is rife with false claims, ambiguities, innuendoes and omissions.  

 In addition, page 2 of the said Opinion and Order states: “... the Court relates 

those facts from Lue I that are relevant to resolving the instant motion to dismiss” 

but to date, the Defendants have not produced one scintilla of evidence to prove 

those “facts” besides the LIES they stated in their Declarations pursuant to 28 U. S. 

C. § 1746 (PERJURY - A CRIME) – Bearing in mind that the Defendants’ said 

PERJURY is the predicate for this lawsuit.   

 Also, the District Court ERRED on relying on those said unproven “facts” to 

dismiss my Defamation/False and Fraudulent Acts and Conduct lawsuit because they 
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are outside of the pleadings.  In conjunction, the District Court’s false claims, 

ambiguities, innuendoes and omissions are based on those said unproven “facts” 

which are outside of the pleadings, are not an integral part of my Complaint, my 

Complaint does not rely heavily upon their terms and effect, my Complaint did not 

make a clear, definite and substantial reference to them and as a matter of fact, in 

some cases, my Complaint did not even once mention them as pointed out below.  

 In light of the aforesaid, this Court should vacate the District Court’s Judgment 

and remand the case for proper assessment and Discovery proceedings.   

 

A. Standards of Review 
  

1. “We find that the district court erred in relying on facts outside the pleadings 

to dismiss the complaint. We further conclude that Palin’s Proposed Amended 

Complaint plausibly states a claim for defamation and may proceed to full 

discovery.” - Palin v. New York Times - No. 17-3801 (2d Cir. 2019) 

 

2. “A document is integral to the complaint “where the complaint relies heavily 

upon its terms and effect” – Chambers v. Time Warner, Inc. 282 F. 3d 147, 153 (2d 

Cir 2002) - Goel v. Bunge, Ltd., 820 F.3d 554, 559 (2d Cir. 2016) 

 

3. “For a document to be incorporated by reference, the complaint must make a 

“clear, definite, and substantial reference to it.” N.Y. Dist. Council of Carpenters 

Pension Fund v. Forde, 939 F. Supp. 2d 268, 277 (S.D.N.Y. 2013).  
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4. “Mere discussion or limited quotation of a document in a complaint” does not 

qualify as incorporation.” DeMasi v. Benefico, 567 F. Supp. 2d 449, 453 Case 7:18-

cv-00494-NSR Document 43 Filed 08/27/19 Page 2 of 41 3 (S.D.N.Y. 2008)  

 

5. “A district court would necessarily abuse its discretion if it based its ruling on 

an erroneous view of the law or on a clearly erroneous assessment of the evidence.” 

Highmark Inc. v. All-care Health Mgmt. Sys., Inc., 134 S. Ct. 1744, 1748 n.2 (2014). 

 

6. “Ambiguities should be resolved in favor of allowing amendments unless and 

until it appears that the privilege to amend will be abused” - [In re Forfeiture of One 

1973 Mercedes Benz Motor Vehicle, 423 So. 2d 535, 537 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 4th 

Dist. 1982)] 

 

7. “An appearance of impropriety occurs when reasonable minds, with knowledge 

of all the relevant circumstances disclosed by a reasonable inquiry, would conclude 

that the judge’s honesty, integrity, impartiality, temperament, or fitness to serve as a 

judge is impaired.” - CANON (2A) 

 

B. The District Court’s False Claims, Ambiguities, Innuendoes and 

Omissions 
  

 On page 2 of the District Court’s Opinion and Order it states: “Plaintiff now 

alleges that Defendants here made defamatory statements about her in Lue I. (See 

generally Am. Compl.).”  This is FALSE/AMBIGUOUS and/or disingenuous at best 
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as based on the nature of my Complaint, the only document from “Lue I” with the 

“terms and effect” to constitute perjury, the predicate for my Defamation/False and 

Fraudulent Acts and Conduct lawsuit, is the Defendants’ “Supplemental Appendix”.   

 In my Defamation Claims, I, Plaintiff, Candice Lue asserted in my pleadings 

that the Defendants LIED under penalty of perjury in their Declarations pursuant to 

28 U. S. C. § 1746 (“Supplemental Appendix”) and that perjury is the predicate for 

my Defamation tort
12
 (see pages 2 and 3 of “Response to Defendants’ Attorney 

Anshel Kaplan’s Letter Motion for conference (pre-motion) in anticipation of 

Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss” which I filed with the District Court on November 

22, 2019 (DCD # 10/App. 34A – 35A).  I also clearly stated in my “Plaintiff’s 

Memorandum of Law In Opposition To Defendants' Motion to Dismiss” (DCD # 

30/App. 123A – 146A) and “Plaintiff’s Brief for February 18, 2020 “Pre-Motion 

Conference Concerning Defendants’ Anticipated Motion to Dismiss” (DCD # 

22/App. 41A – 49A) that the Defendants’ absolute privilege defense is without merit 

because, on its face/as stated, the statements in the Defendants’ Declarations are not 

defamatory and as such do not warrant the absolute privilege defense as well as that 

the statements do not qualify for absolute privilege protection because the Defendants 

do not have one scintilla of evidence to prove pertinency and there is a clear 

                                                 
12
 In this lawsuit, Perjury is and can ONLY be associated with the Defendants’ Declarations pursuant to 28 U. S. C. § 

1746, not every document in “Lue I”. 
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difference between “material” and “misrepresented material”.  The District Court 

however, OMITTED to reference the latter in its Opinion and Order. 

 Page 2 of the District Court’s Opinion and Order also states that “the crux of 

Plaintiff’s complaint stem[med] from her supervisor’s assignment to her of various 

tasks she found demeaning or humiliating”.  This is FALSE.   

 First off, NO WHERE in any of my lawsuits against JPMorgan Chase, “Lue I” 

and/or Lue II, did I say that my BLACK supervisor, Fidelia Shillingford assigned me 

“various tasks [I] found demeaning or humiliating”.  I said that my skip level 

manager, Defendant Alex Khavin, who is WHITE and who is a RACIST assigned me 

such tasks.  Secondly, the “the crux of Plaintiff’s complaint stem[med] from” the 

LIES the Defendants stated under penalty of perjury in their Declarations which 

again is the predicate for my lawsuit against them.  Thirdly, this statement in the 

District Court’s Opinion and Order is false as NO WHERE in my Defamation/False 

and Fraudulent Acts and Conduct lawsuit against Goliath did I make any reference to 

“supervisor assigning me ‘various tasks I found demeaning or humiliating’”.  I 

described the said “various tasks” as “racially stereotypical and discriminatory” and 

this description is only found under the heading “FACTS” (which also includes facts 

such as: “I, pro se Plaintiff, Candice Lue is a former employee of Defendant 

JPMorgan Chase & Co” - Am. Compl. ¶¶ 12 & 13) and/or in referencing one of the 

Defendant’s LIES under penalty of perjury.  There was no substantial reference of 

the sort in my Claims.  This INNUENDO was 100% concocted by the District Court. 
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 Another FALSE/AMBIGUOUS statement on page 2 of the District Court’s 

Opinion and Order is: “Starting in May 2015, Plaintiff raised complaints regarding 

this purportedly discriminatory treatment to Shillingford”.   

 My Amended Complaint “Lue I” (page 2 ¶ 2) clearly states “The first time it 

became fully apparent to me that I was being racially discriminated against by way of 

disparate treatment by Khavin was on January 21, 2015.  On January 26, 2015, I 

officially raised this issue of racial discrimination against me to my then direct 

manager, Fidelia Shillingford”. 

 The District Court then continued onto page 3 with: “On July 30, 2015, 

Shillingford and a representative from Human Resources conducted Plaintiff’s mid-

year performance review, put Plaintiff on a performance improvement plan, and 

“informed [Plaintiff] that she was expected to perform all tasks assigned to her and 

to improve her communication style.” Id. at *4. Plaintiff refused to sign the 

performance improvement plan, and over the next three months, additionally refused 

to perform a number of work-related tasks.”  

 First off, the ONLY tasks I refused to perform were the racially stereotypical 

and discriminatory tasks that were solely assigned to me, “the Black one”.  These 

tasks were not “work-related” but were Black-related.  Secondly, this has absolutely 

NOTHING to do with my Defamation/False and Fraudulent Acts and Conduct 

lawsuit.  Why?  Because I did not even once mention anything of the sort that the 

Defendants defamed my character by putting me on a performance improvement 
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plan, a document I did not once mention in my pleadings, and/or by assigning me 

discriminatory tasks that were not work-related.  There were never such references 

because my Complaint is not based on those claims! 

 While conjuring these claims, what the District Court omitted to state in its 

Opinion and Order however, is that in my Employment Racial Discrimination and 

Retaliation lawsuit “Lue I”, I referred extensively to the “performance improvement 

plan” because it formed the basis of my RETALIATION Claim.  “Retaliatory and 

pretextual performance improvement plan” was mentioned NINETEEN times in my 

Amended Complaint and TWENTY-TWO times in my “Memorandum of Law in 

Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment” of “Lue I” and the said 

“performance improvement plan” was described as “fallacious, retaliatory and 

pretextual” - bearing in mind that this Defamation/False and Fraudulent Acts and 

Conduct lawsuit against Goliath is predicated by the LIES the said Defendants stated 

under penalty of perjury in their Declarations pursuant to 28 U. S. C. § 1746 (a 

crime!).  If they can barefacedly commit such a CRIME, what would not make them 

come up with a fallacious, retaliatory and pretextual “performance improvement 

plan”? 

 On a separate note, if this “performance improvement plan” INNUENDO was 

meant by the District Court and/or Goliath to further defame my character, I have 

solid and overwhelming proofs that the ONLY time in my 35 years of life that my 
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achievements/performance had ever come under such scrutiny, it was those months 

that I worked in one of Goliath’s most RACIST departments.  

 In footnote number 3 on page 7 of the District Court’s Opinion and Order, it 

states: “Additionally, although the Court has considered the Complaint Exhibits in 

resolving the pending motion to dismiss, it notes that — after a careful review — the 

Court has determined that they are not relevant to any [of] the issues raised by the 

instant motion”.  This statement is FALSE/AMBIGUOUS and/or an OMISSION 

because as it relates to “the Court has determined that they are not relevant to any 

[of] the issues raised by the instant motion”, that is because the Exhibits provided for 

“the instant motion” are not the “Complaint Exhibits” (DCD # 24/App. 50A – 122A) 

but the “Plaintiff's Exhibits in Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss” (DCD # 

31/App. 147A – 168A) filed with my “Plaintiff's Memorandum of Law in Opposition 

to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss” (DCD # 30/App. 123A – 146A) on April 23, 

2020.  This is also a clear OMISSION by the District Court as the said Court failed to 

reference any of the evidence from my “Complaint Exhibits” THAT EXPOSES 

GOLIATH’S LIES UNDER PENALTY OF PERJURY but instead continues to 

claim that the said LIES are “facts”. 

 In footnote number 5 on page 9 of the District Court’s Opinion and Order it 

states: “To the extent Plaintiff asserts a claim for perjury, premised on the allegation 

that Defendants perjured themselves in Lue I, the Court notes that there is generally 

no private cause of action for perjury under New York law.”  This is a clear 
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INNUENDO as nowhere in my lawsuit did I assert “a claim for perjury”.  My lawsuit 

clearly states that my Claims are predicated by the crime of perjury not that my 

claim is for perjury.  

 Also, in footnote number 5 on page 9, as it relates to my Third Cause of Action 

– “False and Fraudulent Acts and Conduct”, the Opinion and Order states: “Plaintiff 

is alleging a reputational injury caused by purportedly false and defamatory 

statements made in the Lue I litigation.  Accordingly, the Court construes this cause 

of action to sound in defamation”.  This is a FALSE/AMBIGUOUS claim by the 

District Court. 

 First off, acts and conduct do not constitute libel and/or slander, the basis of a 

defamation claim.  And, as such, I, Plaintiff, Candice Lue could not be “alleging a 

reputational injury caused by purportedly false and defamatory statements made in 

the Lue I litigation” as it relates to acts and conduct.  Also, the authority I used for 

my Third Cause of Action is Morgan v. Graham, 228 F.2d 625 (10th Cir. 1956) – 

“This was an action to recover damages because of the false and fraudulent acts and 

conduct of Morgan” which has nothing to do with defamation but 100% has to do 

with how Morgan committed false and fraudulent acts and conduct to compromise 

the authority of the Court and to influence the outcome of the lawsuit.  The same acts 

and conduct the Defendants in this, my Defamation/False and Fraudulent Acts and 

Conduct lawsuit, committed in “Lue I”.  



 40 

 I also clearly spelt out the Defendants’ false and fraudulent acts as in actions 

and conduct as in behavior
13
 most of which started with the word “fraudulently” as 

follows:  

� Fraudulent use of Declarations pursuant to 28 U. S. C. § 1746, spoliation 

of evidence, common law conspiracy;  

� Fraudulently using Fidelia Shillingford, a Black employee, as a conduit 

and a cover for Employment Racial Discrimination;  

� Fraudulently using Baruch Horowitz, my White predecessor as an 

employee who was solely assigned the racially discriminatory “Tasks” 

and who had to first request permission in order to use JPMorgan 

Chase’s “work from home” employment benefit; 

� Fraudulently using my November 6, 2014 hire letter; 

� Fraudulently using current non-Black employees as ploys to pretend to 

execute the racially discriminatory “Tasks”; 

� Fraudulently using Defendant Alex Khavin’s newly employed manager, 

Philippe Quix to cover her, Alex Khavin’s racial discrimination; 

� Fraudulently using a snippet from Defendant, Chris Liasis’ comments on 

my 2013 mid year performance review to defame my character;  

                                                 
13
 Libel is a written statement and slander is a spoken statement. 
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� Fraudulently having my White predecessor’s manager, Defendant 

Kimberly Dauber lie in a declaration that Baruch Horowitz was solely 

assigned the discriminatory “Tasks”; 

� JPMorgan Chase & Co.’s Human Resources legal representatives 

unlawfully “pre-planning” and “discussing” my termination from the 

company after the company was served with my Charge of Employment 

Racial Discrimination and Retaliation by the Equal Employment 

Opportunity Commission (EEOC), etc. 

 On page 11 of the District Court’s Opinion and Order, the District Court states 

that: “Plaintiff not only admits that this material was contained in Defendants’ filings 

before the Second Circuit, but argues that it is defamatory because it was 

“published” in the course of that judicial proceeding. (See Am. Compl. ¶ 20). 

Accordingly, the statements at issue here were material and pertinent to the judicial 

proceedings in Lue I.”  This statement by the District Court is AMBIGUOUS because 

“The statements at issue here” cannot be “material and pertinent” because they are 

100% false and as such the Defendants cannot provide one scintilla of evidence to 

prove pertinency - Gugliotta v. Wilson, 168 A.D.3d 817, 819 (2d Dept. 2019).  Also, 

the Defendants misrepresented important material facts in the said statements they 

made in their Declarations pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746 and there is a clear 

difference between “material” and “misrepresented material”.  Thus, Goliath’s 

shameful plea for absolute privilege protection must be denied – Bearing in mind 
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that, “[E]very court has supervisory power….” to ensure they “are not used to gratify 

private spite or promote public scandal” or “serve as reservoirs of libelous 

statements….” – Nixon v. Warner Communications, Inc., et al, 435 U.S. 589, 98 S.Ct. 

1306 (1978).   

 Also on page 11 of the Opinion and Order, the District Court states: “In a last-

ditch effort to avoid dismissal, Plaintiff argues that the privilege does not apply here 

— even though she concedes that the purportedly defamatory statements were made 

in a judicial proceeding — because Defendants’ statements only indirectly, rather 

than explicitly, called her a ‘vindictive, lying, uncongenial and elitist person[,] and a 

less desirable/undesirable employee.’” 

 First, this statement/INNUENDO by the District Court is FALSE because for 

one, my argument that “the privilege does not apply here” was not a “last-ditch effort 

to avoid dismissal”.  This has been my consistent argument since November 22, 2019 

which is one week from the time the Defendants shamelessly filed their absolute 

privilege protection defense.  See my “Response to Defendants’ Attorney Anshel 

Kaplan’s Letter Motion [for conference (pre-motion) in anticipation of Defendants’ 

Motion to Dismiss]” (DCD # 10/App. 33A – 40A).   

 Secondly, I did not say anything about the Defendants’ statements “only 

indirectly” called me anything defamatory.  My use of “explicitly” in my statement 

that: “No where during the course of my Employment Racial Discrimination and 

Retaliation lawsuit (1:16-CV-03207 and 18–CV-01248) judicial proceedings did the 
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Defendants explicitly state that I, Plaintiff, Candice Lue is a vindictive, lying, 

uncongenial and elitist person and a less desirable/undesirable employee and no 

where in my Amended Complaint did I state that the Defendants explicitly described 

me as any of the such either.” (Pages 3 – 4 of “Plaintiff's Memorandum of Law In 

Opposition To Defendants' Motion To Dismiss” (DCD #30/App. 129A – 130A) was 

just an expansion of my explanation as to why on its face/as stated, the Defendants’ 

statements are not defamatory and as such do not warrant absolute privilege 

protection.  The said statements are only defamatory when opined and/or interpreted 

by people who are/were not a party to the judicial proceeding and absolute privilege 

protection does not extend to that scenario so the Defendants’ use of absolute 

privilege protection as their “one trick pony” defense is without merit.   

 Thirdly, this statement is a clear OMISSION on the District Court’s part 

because the said Court, whether intentionally or otherwise, failed to mention that I, 

Plaintiff, Candice Lue, presented not one, but four arguments/reasons as to why 

Goliath’s absolute privilege protection defense is without merit.  The four headings of 

my arguments/reasons (see pages 3 – 10 of “Plaintiff's Memorandum of Law In 

Opposition To Defendants' Motion To Dismiss” (DCD # 30/App. 129A – 136A) are 

as follows: 

1. The Tort of Defamation Is Solely Predicated by Perjury As On Its Face, As It 

Relates to the “Absolute Privilege” Defense, the Challenged Statements Are 

Not Defamatory. 
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2. Absolute Privilege Should Not Be Extended to the Defendants Due to the 

Courts’ Neglect of Duty. 

 

3. The Challenged Statements Are Not Subjected to “Absolute Privilege” 

Because The Defendants Have No Evidence of Pertinency/[There is a clear 

difference between “material” and “misrepresented material”]. 

 

4. Common Law Conspiracy Is Not Protected by “Absolute Privilege”. 

 

 NO WHERE in the District Court’s Opinion and Order did it address my other 

three arguments/reasons (or at least the second and the third) as it relates to Goliath’s 

absolute privilege protection “one trick pony” defense.... crickets.... crickets.... 

 On page 13 of the Opinion and Order, the District Court claims that: “Plaintiff 

alleges that certain comments about her work performance from her 2013 mid-year 

review are defamatory. (See Am. Compl.¶ 23)”.  This statement is FALSE as NO 

WHERE in any of my pleadings did I allege such.  What I said, is that Goliath 

maliciously and fraudulently used a snippet from Defendant, Chris Liasis’ comments 

on my 2013 mid year performance review to make me out to be a less 

desirable/undesirable employee (see more on pages 48 – 51 below).  Also see (DCD 

# 24/App. 55A – 57A). 

 Furthermore, negative comments in my performance review were NEVER the 

basis of my Defamation Claims.  My Defamation Claims are SOLELY based on the 

false statements the Defendants made under penalty of perjury in their Declarations.     

Thus, the District Court’s statement that: “Plaintiff is unable to meet the first and 

second elements of a defamation claim as to these comments because “[u]nder New 
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York law, the evaluation of an employee’s performance, even an unsatisfactory 

evaluation, is a matter of opinion that cannot be objectively categorized as true or 

false and cannot be actionable” is irrelevant because the District Court’s said claim is 

FALSE. 

 On page 15 of the District Court’s Opinion and Order it states:  “....there is no 

indication that Defendants were negligent in publishing or disseminating the 

purportedly defamatory statements here. On the contrary, Defendants made an effort 

to check the accuracy of the allegations, including by taking the testimony of four 

relevant parties and conducting thorough investigations into Plaintiff’s allegations.”  

PLEASE TELL ME THAT THIS IS A JOKE!   

 Are we all aware that the “relevant parties” the District Court is talking about 

are among Defendants Alex Khavin, Fidelia Shillingford, Kimberly Dauber, Baruch 

Horowitz, Chris Liasis and Michelle Sullivan who ALL committed the CRIME OF 

PERJURY in their said “testimony[ies]”? -  Bearing in mind that the said 

Defendants’ PERJURY is the predicate for my Defamation/False and Fraudulent 

Acts and Conduct lawsuit.  With that said, what reasonable American would think 

that “conducting thorough investigations into Plaintiff’s allegations” would be a 

credible claim of the District Court?  And, if the District Court’s said statement was 

to be true, why is Goliath pleading for absolute privilege protection and evading 

Discovery where they would have to produce the proof?  
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 Page 16 of the District Court’s Opinion and Order states that: “Plaintiff fails to 

allege special damages with the requisite degree of specificity to sustain her 

defamation claim. She identifies neither an actual loss of income nor specific failures 

in obtaining prospective employment.”  This statement is FALSE. 

 In item “4” on Pages 16 – 20 (FIVE PAGES) of “Plaintiff's Memorandum of 

Law In Opposition To Defendants' Motion To Dismiss” (see DCD #30/App. 142A – 

146A) under the heading: “I Have Suffered And Continue To Suffer Severe Harm 

And Loss Mentally, Physically, Emotionally And Financially”, I described “with the 

requisite degree of specificity” all the “special damages” I sustained in my 

Defamation Claims.  On page 17 of the said document for example, I talked about 

how after multiple searches, applications and interviews for a permanent job became 

futile, I took a three (3) month temporary assignment with no benefits and at a lower 

salary (evidence available to produce during Discovery) with a company and ended 

up working as a temporary contractor with the said company for almost THREE (3) 

YEARS with no benefits and at a lower income.  As, even though my background 

and work experience were in demand per the amount of jobs that were being 

advertised, I could not get a permanent job anywhere with salary and benefits 

comparable to what I earned at JPMorgan Chase because of the negative information 

that JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al put out to the public on me which were affirmed by 

the District Court and reaffirmed by the Appeals Court as “facts”.  
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 I talked about the unusual/unique circumstance under which I was able to get 

my current job and how I constantly worry (every day without fail) about what if I 

were to lose it due to no fault of my own?  Will I be able to find a company that, even 

if they are desperate to find talents like me, would be willing to hire me? 

 I poured my heart out in writing about this topic and that is why the District 

Court claiming that: “She identifies neither an actual loss of income nor specific 

failures in obtaining prospective employment” is very heart wrenching and hurtful.  

 On pages 16-17 of the District Court’s Opinion and Order the Court states that: 

“Construing Plaintiff’s pleadings liberally, the Court understands Plaintiff to point to 

two types of statements that harmed her professional reputation: (i) negative 

comments in her performance reviews, and (ii) comments about Plaintiff’s job duties 

and relationships with her coworkers. (See Am. Compl. ¶¶ 22-28). In point of fact, 

neither argument saves Plaintiff’s defamation claim.” 

 This statement by the District Court is categorically FALSE/AMBIGUOUS.  

As, even as a legal amateur, I am aware that “a matter of opinion” cannot be 

actionable and as such “negative comments in her performance reviews” could not be 

the basis of my Defamation Claims.  This is evidenced in the FIRST paragraph in my 

“Response To Defendants’ Attorney Anshel Kaplan’s Letter To Judge Katherine Polk 

Failla” (“DCD” # 35/App. 169A) filed on December 9, 2020 where I stated: “The 

clear difference in the lawsuits Lue v. JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al and Gill v. 

Dougherty is that the statements made in the former by Defendants, JPMorgan Chase 
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& Co., et al were blatant LIES made under penalty of perjury which were affirmed 

by the District Court and reaffirmed by the Appeals Court as facts
14

 and the 

statements made in the latter, Gill v. Dougherty, No. 2019-05940, 2020 WL 6750782 

(2d Dept. Nov. 18, 2020) were statements made based on the Defendant’s opinion, 

“and not facts” – Making the District Court’s “negative comments in her 

performance reviews” FALSE claim even more outrageous.  

 As for: “(ii) comments about Plaintiff’s job duties and relationships with her 

coworkers” - This is another INNUENDO by the District Court as 1) I do not have 

the slightest idea as to what “and relationships with her coworkers” is supposed to 

mean and 2) NO WHERE in any of my pleadings did I include anything of the sorts 

as the basis of my Defamation Claims as even as a legal amateur I know that such is 

irrelevant in a defamation lawsuit.   

 In continuation of my response on page 44 above and in response to the 

District Court’s statement on page 17 of the Opinion and Order which states: “These 

statements may imply that Plaintiff’s communication style did not meet Defendants’ 

expectations. But this is insufficient because any statement evincing a “general 

dissatisfaction with job performance do[es] not qualify as defamation per se”, I just 

want to once and for all set the record straight about the “communication style” 

comment in my 2013 mid-year performance review but first, let me reiterate that NO 

                                                 
14
 See pages 7, 15, 17 and 18 of “Plaintiff’s Memorandum of Law In Opposition To Defendants' Motion to Dismiss” 

(Docket # 30/Apps. 133A, 141A, 143A & 144A). 
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WHERE in my Defamation Claims did I even suggest that “the crux” of my 

Defamation Claims has to do with anything that was written in a performance review. 

 Goliath picked out a (ONE) snippet (like what dishonest people do in the 

news media) of a comment made in my 2013 performance review by Defendant, 

Chris Liasis, who is a racist and who (and I will humbly stand corrected if Mr. Liasis 

can prove otherwise), as a JPMorgan Chase WHITE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, 

DOES NOT HAVE A COLLEGE DEGREE
15
 but as I said about Chris Liasis on 

page 94 of my Amended Complaint in my Employment Racial Discrimination & 

Retaliation lawsuit (Lue v. JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al - 1:16-CV-03207): “Liasis is 

a person who tried to portray himself as if he was a British statesman.  Everyday he 

dressed in a suit and if he was not wearing a suit, he dressed “scholarly” in a shirt 

with an “Oxford” cardigan.  He called big words just to call big words.”   

 Why is that information relevant?  Because it had become apparent that 

Defendant Chris Liasis, in his quest to seem “scholarly”, would write and/or say 

words that were not in line with what he really means to say and based on the 

evidence I provided in DCD # 24/App. 55A – 57A, that was exactly how that snippet 

happened.   

 However, in Goliath’s quest to defame my character by insinuating the Black 

stereotype “Black people have poor communication skills/poor manners”, they 

                                                 
15
 I hate to do this but after the Defendants, the previous District Court, the previous Second Circuit Court and now the 

current District Court use this deceptive snippet against me, I have no choice. 
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knowingly, intentionally and maliciously used the “communication style requires 

continued refinement” snippet from the said 2013 performance review knowing that it 

was out of context of the truth to make me out to be a less desirable/undesirable 

employee. 

 Chris Liasis’ comment about my “communication style” was not meant to be 

about the usual and stereotypical “Black people have poor communication skills/poor 

manners” as Goliath wanted to portray me.  As a matter of fact, Chris Liasis, who is a 

racist considered me to be “too professional” for a Black employee (DCD # 24/App. 

56A) and as such, as DCD # 24/App. 55A – 57A will also show, his “communication 

style” comment was about the THOROUGHNESS of the way I communicated via 

email.  Or, as my former manager, Defendant Michelle Sullivan, who knocked heads 

with Chris Liasis, said in my 2014 performance review: “Another key development 

point for Candice is tailoring her communication style for her audience. She should 

try to move away from detailed explanation of investigation and steps performed 

(although good when training team members
16

) when providing updates and 

feedback” - (DCD # 24/App. 57A).   

 Goliath was AWARE of this fact yet still knowingly, intentionally and 

maliciously published with malice this misleading SNIPPET in their quest to make 

me, Plaintiff, Candice Lue out to be a less desirable/undesirable employee and/or at a 

                                                 
16
 I am always willing to share my FULL knowledge of my work with my co-workers. Something that is not common in 

the “corporate world”. 
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minimum acted and published with a reckless disregard for the truth.  My Defamation 

Claims have nothing to do with the District Court’s Ruling: “general dissatisfaction 

with job performance do[es] not qualify as defamation per se”. 

 I find it ironic that in the Opinion and Order, the District Court kept referring to 

the Defendants’ false statements in “Lue I” and their PERJURIOUS Declarations, 

which are the predicate for this Defamation/False and Fraudulent Acts and Conduct 

lawsuit, as “factual”.  Yet, the said Court is barring the case from proceeding to 

Discovery where it will show that there is nothing “factual” about Goliath’s 

challenged statements and that Goliath does not have one scintilla of evidence to back 

up their LIES.... Lies such as Baruch Horowitz, “a Caucasian male and a Senior 

Associate (a higher rank than Lue’s role of Analyst)” was exclusively responsible for 

the discriminatory Tasks that were solely assigned to me, Plaintiff, Candice Lue, the 

only Black analyst on the team and that just like me, the Black one, Caucasian 

Baruch Horowitz had to obtain permission to work from home.  See the District 

Court’s Opinion and Order “factual” claims below: 

� Page 2 – “the Court relates those facts from Lue I that are relevant to 

resolving the instant motion to dismiss.” 

� Pages 3 – 4 – “Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint lists a slew of specific factual 

allegations contained in Defendant’s submissions to the Second Circuit.”  

� Pages 17 – 18 “....they are simply factual disagreements that the parties 

briefed and argued in Lue I”. 
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� Page18 – “While Plaintiff points to evidence that she claims refutes the factual 

claims Defendants advanced in Lue I....  “....refer to the factual circumstances 

surrounding Plaintiff’s termination”. 

 I cannot help but think that the Defendants must be rolling over dying with 

laughter either at the stupidity/lack of integrity of the Courts or at how they are able 

to get away with their conspiratorial, criminal, false and fraudulent acts and 

conduct. 

 In light of the foregoing and for the integrity of the Southern District Court of 

New York and the U.S. Judicial system as a whole, this Court should vacate the 

District Court’s erroneous Ruling and remand the case for a proper assessment and 

Discovery proceeding. 

  

False Claims 
  

 Goliath’s shameful absolute privilege protection defense is without merit and 

the District Court should not be coming up with FALSE claims against me, a poor, 

Black, female, pro se Plaintiff to conceal Goliath’s DISGRACEFUL “one trick 

pony” absolute privilege protection defense.  

 If JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al did not LIE in their Declarations pursuant to 28 

U. S. C. § 1746 (A CRIME) in their quest to make me, Plaintiff, Candice Lue, out to 

be a vindictive, lying, troublesome, uncongenial and elitist person and a less 

desirable/undesirable employee then they should come up with the EVIDENCE to 
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show that and not try to hide behind absolute privilege protection.  Likewise, the 

District Court should not be coming up with FALSE statements that even as a legal 

amateur I know do not fit the bill of a defamation lawsuit to discredit my 

Defamation/False and Fraudulent Acts and Conduct lawsuit against Goliath 

JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al.  That is why this Court should remand the case for 

proper assessment and Discovery proceedings as it is clear that my lawsuit consists of 

legitimate causes of action and the “failure to state a claim” Ruling by the District 

Court is profoundly erroneous. 

 

Ambiguities 

 

 The District Court’s Opinion and Order does not reflect and is not a correct 

assessment of the pleadings in my Defamation/False and Fraudulent Acts and 

Conduct lawsuit. 

 ACTUAL fraudulent acts and conduct that were committed by the Defendants 

and were clearly listed as such in the pleadings cannot be construed as “sound in 

defamation”  as there is nothing speculative about what is stated (see pages 40 - 41 

above).  And, claims by the District Court such as: “the crux of Plaintiff’s complaint 

stem[med] from her supervisor’s assignment to her of various tasks she found 

demeaning or humiliating” and talking points such as “On July 30, 2015, Shillingford 

and a representative from Human Resources conducted Plaintiff’s mid-year 

performance review, put Plaintiff on a performance improvement plan.... Plaintiff 
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refused to sign the performance improvement plan, and over the next three months, 

additionally refused to perform a number of work-related tasks” are pure 

insinuations/innuendoes by the District Court as NO WHERE in my pleadings did I 

make such reference or in any way suggest that such claims/talking points formed 

“the crux” of my Defamation Claims because even as a legal amateur, I knew that 

such a claim/talking point cannot be the basis/“crux” of a Defamation lawsuit.   

 However, what I referenced FIFTEEN times in my Amended Complaint and 

TWENTY FOUR times in my “Plaintiff’s Memorandum of Law In Opposition To 

Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss” as “the crux of Plaintiff’s complaint” are the LIES 

stated under penalty of perjury in the Defendants’ Declarations pursuant to 28 U. S. 

C. § 1746 that the said Defendants knowingly published with malice in their quest to 

make me out to be a vindictive, lying, troublesome, uncongenial and elitist person 

and a less desirable/undesirable employee and/or at a minimum acted and published 

with a reckless disregard for the truth. - “Perjury can provide a predicate for other 

tort claims if the elements of those torts can otherwise be proven” - Morgan v. 

Graham, 228 F.2d 625 (10th Cir. 1956) thus my Defamation tort.   

 In conjunction, “to qualify for the [absolute] privilege, a statement must be 

‘material and pertinent to the questions involved’” - Brown v. Maxwell, 929 F.3d 41, 

53 (2d Cir. 2019).  There is a clear difference between “material” and 

“misrepresented material”.  The Defendants’ Declarations pursuant to 28 U. S. C. § 

1746 contain misrepresented material facts that were fraudulently presented to the 
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District and Appeals Courts and for which the said Defendants cannot provide one 

scintilla of evidence to show pertinence - Gugliotta v. Wilson, 168 A.D.3d 817, 819 

(2d Dept. 2019).   

 In light of the foregoing, there are clear ambiguities in the District Court’s 

Opinion and Order as it relates to “the crux of Plaintiff’s complaint”, etc. and as such, 

this Court should vacate the District Court’s Ruling and remand for a proper 

assessment of the case. 

 

Innuendoes 

 

 The District Court conjuring claims that were farthest from my mind when I 

filed this Defamation/False and Fraudulent Acts and Conduct lawsuit against Goliath 

JPMorgan Chase & Co., et al and claims that even as a legal amateur I knew cannot 

and could not be valid claims for a Defamation tort is nothing short of insinuation.  

The District Court’s innuendoes include claims such as “the crux of Plaintiff’s 

complaint....” and talking points having to do with a fallacious, pretextual and 

retaliatory “performance improvement plan” which was NEVER once mentioned 

and/or referenced in any of my pleadings.  Anyone of reasonable mind knows that for 

the integrity of the U.S. judicial system, a District Court should not be partial to the 

point of conjuring its own claims in a lawsuit.   

 In light of the foregoing, this Court should vacate the District Court’s Ruling 

and remand the case for a fair and proper assessment and for Discovery proceedings. 
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Omissions 

 

 How ironic, shocking, flabbergasting (I am at a loss for words) it is that the 

District Court would omit to address in its Opinion and Order important pleadings I 

filed and significant arguments I made in my Defamation/False and Fraudulent Acts 

and Conduct lawsuit but instead included arguments in the said Opinion and Order 

that I NEVER mentioned and/or even referenced in my Claims because they were 

NEVER the basis of my said lawsuit.  For this reason, anyone of reasonable mind or 

even basic common sense would know that the District Court ERRED in its Opinion 

and Order.  

 In light of the foregoing, this Court should vacate the District Court’s Ruling 

and remand the case for proper assessment and Discovery proceedings. 

 

3. LEAVE TO AMEND IS DENIED 

 The District Court should not have denied me, pro se Plaintiff, Candice Lue, 

“Leave to Amend” as based on the foregoing, it would be clear to anyone of 

reasonable mind that the District Court’s assessment of my Defamation/False and 

Fraudulent Acts and Conduct lawsuit, per the said Court’s Opinion and Order, is 

profoundly flawed as the District Court, whether intentionally or otherwise, 

misconstrued my argument and/or outrightly made up its own argument.  Since from 

the District Court’s Opinion and Order and my argument in this Appellant Brief, 

there are obvious ambiguities surrounding the arguments in my lawsuit due to the 



 57 

said Court’s false claims, ambiguities, innuendoes and omissions, I should at least be 

given the opportunity to amend my complaint to ensure a fair and proper assessment 

of my Claims. 

 

A. Standard of Review  
 

 “Ambiguities should be resolved in favor of allowing amendments unless and 

until it appears that the privilege to amend will be abused” - [In re Forfeiture of One 

1973 Mercedes Benz Motor Vehicle, 423 So. 2d 535, 537 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 4th 

Dist. 1982)]  

  

CONCLUSION 

 In light of the foregoing, it is clear that the District Court’s Ruling granting the 

Defendants’ motion to dismiss is profoundly erroneous as the said Court’s Opinion 

and Order is rife with false claims, ambiguities, innuendoes and omissions.  I 

respectfully ask that this Court vacate the District Court’s Judgment and remand the 

case for proper assessment and Discovery proceedings. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 58 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

July 6, 2021     CANDICE LUE 

                                                         

____________________________________  

               Signature 

             

      P.O. Box 178            ______________________ 

                 Address 
 

 

Great Meadows, NJ 07838 - 0178       ______ 

            City, State, Zip Code
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